

# Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies (THUD): FY2010 Appropriations

(name redacted) Analyst in Transportation Policy

**(name redacted)** Specialist in Housing Policy

January 29, 2010

**Congressional Research Service** 

7-.... www.crs.gov R40805

### Summary

President Obama requested a total of \$123.1 billion for the agencies included in H.R. 3288, the Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies Appropriations (THUD) bill for FY2010. This request represented an increase of approximately \$14.1 billion (12.9%) over the \$109.1 billion provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act (Division I of P.L. 111-8). The enacted legislation provided \$122.1 billion, less than 1% (\$977 million) below the President's request and 12% (\$13.4 billion) more than the comparable FY2009 funding (not including the FY2009 emergency funding).

The single largest new item in the budget request was \$5 billion for a new independent federal agency—a national infrastructure bank—that would provide federal funding for, and promote investment from other sources in, infrastructure projects of national or regional significance. Neither the House nor the Senate funded this request; the conference report encourages the administration to pursue the creation of such a program through the regular authorization process.

The FY2010 request for DOT totaled \$72.4 billion, \$5.2 billion (7.7%) more than the total of \$67.2 billion in funding provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act (the House and Senate both reported the request as \$77.4 billion, as they considered the \$5 billion request for an infrastructure bank as part of the DOT request). The actual requested increase is somewhat less, as the reported funding level for FY2009 was reduced by a \$3.5 billion rescission of contract authority which did not actually reduce the level of funding provided. The House-passed bill provides a total of \$75.8 billion in funding for DOT, \$3.4 billion (8%) more than the requested level. The Senate-passed bill provided \$75.8 billion. The enacted legislation provided \$75.7 billion, \$3.3 billion (5%) more than the original DOT request.

The FY2010 request for HUD totaled \$45.5 billion, \$4.0 billion (7.7%) more than the comparable amount of new funding provided in the regular annual appropriation for FY2009. The House-passed bill provided \$47.1 billion, the Senate-passed bill provided \$45.8, and the enacted legislation provided \$46.1 billion, 1% more than the requested amount.

Throughout this report, the amounts being considered for FY2010 are compared to the amounts provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act. However, DOT and HUD also received significant amounts of supplemental funding in FY2009 through the economic stimulus act (the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, P.L. 111-5/H.R. 1), which Congress passed in February of 2009. That act provided \$48.1 billion in emergency supplemental funding for DOT and \$13.7 billion for HUD, a total of \$61.8 billion in additional funding. That represented an increase of 52% to the total new funding provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act. Not every office and program in the THUD bill received funding from that supplement, and not all of that additional funding was expended in FY2009.

### Contents

Most Recent Developments	1
The President's Budget Request	1
Status of the THUD Appropriations Bill	2
Changing Appropriations Subcommittee Structures	3
Department of Transportation Appropriations	4
Department of Transportation Budget and Key Policy Issues	7
Highway Trust Fund Solvency	
Expiration of Federal Transportation Program Authorizations	
Rescission of Highway Contract Authority on September 30, 2009	
National Infrastructure Bank/National Infrastructure Investment	
High-Speed Corridors and Intercity Passenger Rail Service Grant Program	
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)	
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)	
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA)	
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)	
Federal Railroad Administration (FRA)	
Federal Transit Administration (FTA)	
Maritime Administration (MARAD)	
Department of Housing and Urban Development Appropriations	17
Select Budget Issues, FY2010	
New Administration "Crosscutting" Initiatives	
Transformation Initiative	
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund	
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods	
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund	20 21 21 22
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers)	20 21 21 22 22
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues	20 21 21 22 22 22 22
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals.	20 21 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 23
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers	20 21 21 22 22 22 22 23 23
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds	20 21 21 22 22 22 22 23 23 23 23
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund	20 21 21 22 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 24
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund.	20 21 21 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG	20 21 21 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers. Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG CDBG	20 21 21 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers. Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG CDBG Section 108 and Brownfields	20 21 21 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 25
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG CDBG Section 108 and Brownfields Funding for Housing Counseling	20 21 21 22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 25 26
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG Section 108 and Brownfields Funding for Housing Counseling FHA and Ginnie Mae	$\begin{array}{c} & & 20 \\ & & 21 \\ & & 21 \\ & & 22 \\ & & 22 \\ & & 22 \\ & & 22 \\ & & 22 \\ & & 22 \\ & & & 22 \\ & & & 23 \\ & & & 23 \\ & & & & 23 \\ & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & & & & 24 \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & $
Transformation Initiative Energy Innovation Fund Choice Neighborhoods Housing Trust Fund Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers) FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues FY2010 Voucher Renewals FY2010 New Vouchers Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds Operating Fund Capital Fund Community Development and CDBG CDBG Section 108 and Brownfields Funding for Housing Counseling	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \\ 21 \\ 21 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 23 \\ 23$

### Tables

Table 1. Programs Requested for	Termination by President in	FY2010 Budget

Table 2. Status of FY2010 Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related         Agencies Appropriations	2
Table 3. Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies         Appropriations, FY2009-FY2010.	3
Table 4. Funding Trends for Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and       Related Agencies, FY2004-FY2009	4
Table 5. Department of Transportation Appropriations, FY2009-FY2010	5
Table 6. HUD Appropriations, FY2009-FY2010	18
Table A-1. DOT Funding in ARRA	28
Table A-2. HUD Funding in ARRA	29

### Appendixes

Appendix. Related Legislation	Appendix. R	Related Legislation	,
-------------------------------	-------------	---------------------	---

### Contacts

Author Contact Information	
Key Policy Staff	

### **Most Recent Developments**

On December 16, 2009, President Obama signed the FY2010 Department of Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies Appropriation Act into law (Divison A of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2010, P.L. 111-117), after Congress had passed the conference version of the bill on December 10, 2006. The enacted bill provided a total of \$122.1 billion, \$15.1 billion (14.1%) more than the equivalent figure provided in FY2009 and \$1.1 billion less than the amount requested by the Administration.

### The President's Budget Request

The President's net FY2010 request for the programs covered by this appropriations bill was \$123.2 billion (after scorekeeping adjustments). This was \$16.2 billion (15.1%) more than the amount enacted in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act. DOT and HUD received additional funding in FY2009 through the ARRA emergency stimulus act (see **Appendix** for more information).

The request for DOT was \$72.4 billion,<sup>1</sup> \$1.0 billion (1.4%) more than the \$71.5 billion of total new funding provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act.<sup>2</sup> The request reflected slight increases over FY2009 funding for most DOT programs.

The HUD request was \$45.5 billion, \$4.0 billion (7.7%) more than the comparable amount of new funding provided in the regular annual appropriation for FY2009. The House-passed bill provided \$47.1 billion, while the Senate Committee on Appropriations recommended \$45.8 billion.

The President requested \$5.3 billion for other related agencies in the THUD bill, compared to the \$303 million provided in FY2009. The difference was due to the President's request for \$5 billion for a new independent federal agency, a national infrastructure bank. Appropriators considered this request as part of the request for DOT funding.

The President also requested the termination of five programs that received a total of \$212 million in funding in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act. This was part of a budget-wide effort that requested 121 terminations, reductions, and savings in the FY2010 budget, totaling \$\$17 billion, from "programs that do not accomplish the goals set for them, do not do so efficiently, or do a job already done by another initiative."<sup>3</sup> Congress did not fund two of the five programs in the FY2010 THUD act; the remaining three received increased funding, totaling \$346 million (see **Table 1**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The FY2010 THUD Appropriations Act considers the request as \$77.4 billion, because Congress considered a \$5 billion request for a national infrastructure bank – which the President requested as an independent agency – as part of the DOT request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Congress provided \$17 billion in non-emergency discretionary funding and \$54.5 billion in contract authority—a total of \$71.4 billion—to DOT in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act. A \$3.5 billion rescission of contract authority and other budget scoring rules reduced the total, for budgetary purposes, to \$67.2 billion, but did not reduce the amount of new funding actually made available.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Office of Management and Budget, *Terminations, Reductions, and Savings: Budget of the U.S. Government, Fiscal Year 2010*, Washington, D.C., 2009, p. 1, http://www.budget.gov.

(\$ minors)									
Program	Agency	FY2009 Funding	FY2010 Funding						
Corridor H, Appalachian Development Highway System	DOT (FHWA)	\$10	\$0						
Denali Access (Alaska)	DOT (FHWA)	6	0						
Surface Transportation Priorities	DOT (FHWA)	161	293						
Rail Line Relocation Grant Program	DOT (FRA)	25	35						
Brownfields	HUD	10	17.5						
Total		\$212	\$345.5						

### Table 1. Programs Requested for Termination by President in FY2010 Budget (\$ millions)

**Source:** OMB, Terminations, Reductions, and Savings: Budget of the U.S. Government, FY2010; FY2010 funding from FY2010 THUD appropriations Act.

### Status of the THUD Appropriations Bill

Leaders of the House and Senate Committees on Appropriation declared their desire to pass all 12 FY2010 appropriations bills separately, and thus avoid having to bundle two or more of the bills into a consolidated or omnibus appropriations act, as has happened in each of the past several years. This goal was made more challenging by the fact that 2009 was the first year of a new administration. President Obama did not take office until January 20, 2009; his administration was not prepared to submit a regular budget request for FY2010 during the first week in February, the usual date. Congress did not pass the last of the FY2009 appropriations acts until March 10, 2009. The Administration's detailed budget request for FY2010 was submitted to Congress on May 7, 2009. Also, Congress was dealing with several major initiatives during 2009, including energy and health care reform, in addition to dealing with the effects of the recession.

**Table 2** notes the status of the FY2010 THUD appropriations bill, and **Table 3** lists the total funding provided for each of the titles in the bill for FY2009 and the amount requested for that title for FY2010.

Table 2. Status of FY2010 Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and
Related Agencies Appropriations

Bill	Subcommittee Markup		House Report	House Passage	Senate Report	Senate Passage	Conf. Report	Conference Report Approval		Public Law
	House	Senate				8-		House	Senate	
H.R. 3288	7/14/09	7/29/09	7/22/09 H.Rept. 111- 218	7/23/09 256-168	8/5/09 S.Rept.       -69	9/17/09 73-25	H.Rept.    - 366	12/10/09 221- 202-1	12/13/09 57-35	2/ 6/09 P.L.    -   7

(millions of dollars)									
Title	FY2009 Enacted <sup>a</sup>	FY2010 Request	FY2010 House	FY2010 Senate	FY2010 Enacted				
Title I: Department of Transportation	\$67,212	\$77,429	\$75,769	\$75,808	\$75,700				
Title II: Housing and Urban Development	41,535	45,483	47,048	45,828	46,066				
Title III: Related Agencies	303	<b>296</b> <sup>ь</sup>	329	394	345				
Total	\$108,731	\$123,208	\$123,068	\$122,029	\$122,143				

## Table 3. Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related AgenciesAppropriations, FY2009-FY2010

**Source:** Budget table in H.Rept. 111-366 accompanying H.R. 3288, except House and Senate figures from budget tables provided by House and S.Rept. 111-68. "Total" represents total budgetary resources. Totals may not add up due to rounding and scorekeeping adjustments.

- a. FY2009 total does not include \$61.8 billion in emergency stimulus funding for DOT and HUD
- b. Both House and Senate considered the President's request for a \$5 billion infrastructure bank under DOT rather than under Related Agencies.

### **Changing Appropriations Subcommittee Structures**

Since 2003, the House and Senate Committees on Appropriations have reorganized their subcommittee structure three times. In 2003, a new subcommittee (Homeland Security) was added; in order to maintain the existing number of subcommittees at 13, the Transportation appropriations subcommittees were combined with the Treasury, Postal Service, and General Government appropriations subcommittees, becoming the Subcommittees on Transportation, Treasury, and Independent Agencies.

In early 2005, the House and Senate Committees on Appropriations again reorganized their subcommittee structures. The House Committee on Appropriations reduced its number of subcommittees from 13 to 10. This change included combining the Transportation, Treasury, and Independent Agencies subcommittee with the District of Columbia subcommittee; to the resulting subcommittee, in addition, jurisdiction over appropriations for the Department of Housing and Urban Development and the Judiciary, as well as several additional independent agencies, was added. The subcommittee was then known as the Subcommittee on Transportation, Treasury, Housing and Urban Development, The Judiciary, District of Columbia, and Independent Agencies (or TTHUD).

The Senate Committee on Appropriations reduced its number of subcommittees to 12. The Senate also added jurisdiction over appropriations for the Departments of Housing and Urban Development and the Judiciary to the Transportation, Treasury, and Independent Agencies subcommittee. The Senate retained a separate District of Columbia Appropriations subcommittee. As a result, the areas of coverage of the House and Senate subcommittees with jurisdiction over this appropriations bill were almost, but not quite, identical; the major difference being that in the Senate the appropriations for the District of Columbia originate in a separate bill.

At the beginning of the 110<sup>th</sup> Congress in 2007, the House and Senate Committees on Appropriations again reorganized their subcommittee structures. The House and Senate committees divided the responsibilities of the TTHUD subcommittees between two subcommittees: Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies (THUD); and Financial Services and General Government, whose jurisdiction included the Treasury Department, the Judiciary, the Executive Office of the President, the District of Columbia, and many of the independent agencies formerly under the jurisdiction of the TTHUD subcommittees.

These changes make year-to-year comparisons of Transportation and Housing and Urban Development appropriation bills complex, as their appropriations appear in different bills in combination with various other agencies. Other factors, such as supplemental appropriations for response to disasters (such as the damage caused by the Gulf Coast hurricanes in the fall of 2005) and changes in the makeup of the Department of Transportation (portions of which were transferred to the Department of Homeland Security in 2004), also complicate comparisons of year-to-year funding. **Table 4** shows funding trends for DOT and HUD over the period FY2004-FY2009, omitting emergency funding and other supplemental funding, and the amounts requested for FY2010. The purpose of **Table 4** is to indicate trends in the funding for these agencies. Emergency supplemental appropriations are not included in the figures.

## Table 4. Funding Trends for Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, andRelated Agencies, FY2004-FY2009

	(billions of current dollars)									
Department FY2004 <sup>a</sup> FY2005 <sup>b</sup> FY2006 <sup>c</sup> FY2007 FY2008 <sup>d</sup> FY2009 <sup>e</sup> FY2010 Requ										
Title I: DOT	\$58.4	\$59.6	\$59.5	\$63.2	\$64.7	\$67.2	\$72.4			
Title II: HUD	31.2	31.9	34.0	36.2	37.6	41.5	45.5			

**Source:** United States House of Representatives, Committee on Appropriations, Comparative Statement of Budget Authority tables from fiscal years 2004 through 2009.

- a. FY2004 figures reflect a 0.59% across-the-board rescission.
- b. FY2005 figures reflect a 0.83% across-the-board rescission.
- c. FY2006 figures reflect a 1.0% across-the-board rescission, but do not reflect emergency supplemental appropriations provided for DOT and HUD. DOT and HUD received emergency funding for response to the effects of the Gulf Coast hurricanes; DOT's total FY2006 funding, including emergency funding, was \$62.3 billion; HUD's total FY2006 funding, including emergency funding, was \$45.5 billion.
- d. FY2008 figures reflect a 2.0% rescission applied to most programs that included designated earmarks, but do not reflect emergency funding. DOT received \$195 million in emergency funding; HUD received \$3.0 billion.
- e. FY2009 figures do not reflect \$61.8 billion in emergency economic stimulus funding.

### **Department of Transportation Appropriations**

**Table 5** presents funding provided for DOT in the emergency supplemental funding act passed in February 2009 (the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009); the funding provided in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act passed as Division I of the Omnibus Appropriations Act of 2009 in March of 2009, and the amounts requested for FY2010 by the Administration and reported by the House and the Senate Committee on Appropriations.

Office or Agency (Selected Accounts)	ARRA Enacted P.L. III-5	FY2009 Enacted P.L. III-8	FY2010 Request	FY2010 House	FY2010 Senate	FY2010 Enacted
Office of the Secretary of Transportation	1,500	207	257	257	1,354	887.5
Essential Air Service		73	125	125	125	150
National Infrastructure Investment		_	_	-	1,100	600
Supplemental Discretionary Grants for a National Surface Transportation System	1,500	-	-	-	-	-
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)						
Operations (trust fund & general fund)		9,042	9,336	9,347	9,359	9,350
Facilities & Equipment (F&E)(trust fund)	200	2,742	2,925	2,925	2,942	2,936
Grants-in-aid for Airports (AIP)(limitation on obligations)	1,100	3,515	3,515	3,515	3,515	3,515
Research, Engineering, & Development (trust fund)		171	180	195	175	191
Subtotal before contract authority rescission	١,300	15,470	15,956	15,982	15,992	15,992
Rescission of Contract Authority		-93	_	_	-393	-394
Subtotal, FAA	1,300	15,377	15,956	15,982	15,599	15,598
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)						
(Limitation on Obligations)		40,700	5,000	41,107	41,107	41,107
(Exempt Obligations)		739	739	739	739	739
Additional funds (trust funds)		-	-	-	-	_
Additional funds (general funds)	27,500	320	36,107	126	1,565	943
Subtotal before contract authority rescissions		41,759	41,846	41,972	43,411	42,050
Rescissions of contract authority		-3,195	-	-	-	_
Subtotal, FHWA	27,500	38,563	41,846	41,846	43,411	42,050
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA)						
Motor carrier safety operations and programs (HTF)		234	240	240	239	240
Motor carrier safety grants (HTF)		307	310	310	310	310
Subtotal before contract authority rescissions		541	550	550	550	550
Rescissions of contract authority		-33	-	-	-5	-11
Subtotal, FMCSA		508	550	550	545	539
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)						
Operations and research (HTF)		106	107	109	106	106
Operations and research (general fund)		127	130	132	136	140
Subtotal, Operations and research		233	237	240	241	246
National Driver Register		4	4	7	7	7
Highway traffic safety grants (HTF)		620	626	620	620	620
Subtotal before contract authority rescissions		856	867	867	868	873

### Table 5. Department of Transportation Appropriations, FY2009-FY2010

Office or Agency (Selected Accounts)	ARRA Enacted P.L. III-5	FY2009 Enacted P.L. III-8	FY2010 Request	FY2010 House	FY2010 Senate	FY2010 Enacted
Rescissions of contract authority		-72	-	-	-16	-16
Appropriations		127	130	135	139	144
Limitations on obligations		729	737	732	729	729
Subtotal, NHTSA		784	867	867	852	856
Federal Railroad Administration (FRA)						
Safety and operations		159	169	173	172	172
Railroad research and development		34	34	37	34	38
Capital assistance to states—intercity passenger rail service		90	-	-	_	-
Rail line relocation and improvement program		25	-	40	25	35
Safety technology grants		_	-	-	_	50
Grants for high-speed rail, intercity passenger rail, and relieving congestion on the rail network	8,000		1,000	4,000	1,200	2,500
Amtrak						
Operating grants		550	572	553	553	563
Capital grants	1,300	940	930	930	1,002	1,002
Efficiency incentive grants		-37				-
Subtotal, Amtrak		1,453	1,502	1,502	1,555	1,565
Subtotal, FRA	9,300	1,762	2,705	5,752	3,036	4,359
Federal Transit Administration (FTA)						
Capital Investment Grants (New Starts)(general funds)	750	1,809	1,827	١,827	2,307	2,000
Research and university research centers		67	68	66	68	66
Formula and Bus Grants		8,261	5,000	8,343	8,343	8,343
Appropriations	7,650	1,971	5,336	2,140	2,722	2,390
Limitations on obligations		8,261	5,000	8,343	8,343	8,343
Subtotal before contract authority rescissions		10,231	10,336	10,484	11,066	10,733
Rescissions of contract authority		-100	-	-	-	-
Subtotal, FTA	8,400	10,131	10,336	10,484	11,066	10,733
Maritime Administration (MARAD)	100	432	346	334	375	363
Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA)						
Pipeline safety program		74	86	86	86	86
Emergency preparedness grants to states		29	29	29	28	29
Subtotal, PHMSA		173	188	190	189	193
Research and Innovative Technology Administration (RITA)		13	13	13	13	13
Office of Inspector General	20	91	75	75	75	75
Surface Transportation Board		26	26	29	27	28

Office or Agency (Selected Accounts)	ARRA Enacted P.L.    -5	FY2009 Enacted P.L. III-8	FY2010 Request	FY2010 House	FY2010 Senate	FY2010 Enacted
Department of Transportation						
Appropriations		16,999	62,627	21,522	21,979	21,877
Limitations on obligations		53,745	14,802	54,247	54,243	54,244
Exempt contract authority		739	739	739	739	739
Emergency appropriations		-	-	-	_	_
Rescissions		-39	_	-	_	_
Subtotal before rescissions of contract authority		71,444	78,168	76,508	76,961	76,122
Rescissions of contract authority		-3,493	_	_	-415	-422
Total, Department of Transportation	48,120	67,212	72,429	75,769	75,508	75,700

**Source:** Figures are from the text and a budget table published in H.Rept. 111-218 and a subsequent budget table provided by the House Committee on Appropriations, except Senate figures, which are from the text and a budget table in S.Rept. 111-69. Because of differing treatment of offsets, the numbers for "FY2010 Request" will not always match the Administration's budget figures from other sources. The figures within this table may differ slightly from those in the text of this report due to supplemental appropriations, rescissions, and other funding actions. Columns may not add due to rescissions, rounding, and exclusion of smaller program line-items.

Notes: ARRA is the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5).

### Department of Transportation Budget and Key Policy Issues

The President's FY2010 budget requested a total of \$72.4 billion in funding for the Department of Transportation (DOT). That was \$5.2 billion (7.7%) above the \$67.2 billion, excluding emergency funding,  $^{4}$  provided for FY2009.<sup>5</sup>

DOT funding is provided in two forms: discretionary funding drawn from the general fund of the Treasury (i.e., general funds), and contract authority. Contract authority is a type of budget authority—in the case of DOT, derived from the existence of the Aviation and Highway Trust Funds—that is available for "obligation" (which makes the federal government obligated to pay the money to the recipient) as a result of provisions in authorizing legislation, without requiring any further legislative action (i.e., without any appropriation by Congress). In order to impose a limit on the amount of money that the government can be obligated to spend, the amount of contract authority that can be obligated is limited by a spending control mechanism called a "limitation on obligations" (often referred to as "ObLim" or "Oblimit"). The ObLim for each year is set in the authorizing legislation, and is included in the DOT appropriations bill. In most discussions, the Oblim is analogous to an appropriation, in that it is considered to be the best indicator of the amount of contract authority actually being made available for use by recipients.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Congress also provided \$48.1 billion in emergency economic stimulus funding for DOT in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The actual amount of new funding provided to DOT in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act was \$71.4 billion; this figure was reduced to \$67.2 billion by a \$3.5 billion rescission of unused contract authority and exclusion of \$739 million in exempt contract authority.

In this report, references to DOT funding include both discretionary funds and the contract authority Oblim, unless otherwise indicated.

In preparing legislation to fund DOT for FY2010, Congress faced several issues both within and outside the context of the President's budget request and FY2010 transportation funding initiatives. These included the solvency of the Highway Trust Fund, the pending expiration of authorizations for federal aviation, highway, and transit programs at the end of FY2009, and a pending \$8.7 billion rescission of contract authority previously provided to the states at the end of FY2009. Other funding issues included the President's request for two new programs, \$5 billion for a national infrastructure bank and \$1 billion for high-speed and intercity passenger rail grants.

### **Highway Trust Fund Solvency**

Typically, all or virtually all federal highway funding is drawn from the Highway Account of the Highway Trust Fund, whose revenues come largely from taxes on gasoline and diesel fuel sales and on sales of large trucks and truck tires. For example, only \$320 million of the \$41.7 billion provided for the Federal Highway Administration in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act came from general funds; the remainder was contract authority. In addition, most federal transit funding also comes from the transit account of the Highway Trust Fund (about \$2 billion of FTA's \$10.2 billion in the FY2009 regular appropriation came from general funds).

When the federal highway and transit programs were last authorized in 2005 (P.L. 109-59, the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users, or SAFETEA), Congress authorized highway spending levels to be drawn from the Fund through FY2009. Since that time, a number of events have reduced the balance of the Fund more than was projected: Congress provided more than the originally authorized level of highway funding from the Highway Trust Fund in some fiscal years, and the economic recession led to lower than projected revenues to the Fund. This situation led Congress to transfer \$8 billion in general revenues to the Highway Trust Fund late in FY2008 to maintain its solvency.<sup>6</sup>

In order to maintain the solvency of the Highway Trust Fund, the President's FY2010 budget proposed drawing only \$5 billion from the Highway Trust Fund for the federal highway program for FY2010, with the remaining \$36 billion for the program to be appropriated from the general fund of the Treasury. Congress rejected this proposal, and in July 2009 again transferred money (\$7 billion) from the general fund to the Highway Trust Fund to maintain its solvency (P.L. 111-46/H.R. 3357). This is expected to keep the Fund solvent for most of FY2010.

### **Expiration of Federal Transportation Program Authorizations**

Funding authorization for aviation programs expired at the end of FY2007, and Congress has repeatedly extended authorization for the aviation program (for further information, see CRS Report R40410, *Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Reauthorization: An Overview of Legislative Action in the 111<sup>th</sup> Congress*, coordinated by (name redacted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> By law, the Highway Trust Fund is not allowed to go into a negative balance. Instead, the money flowing out of the fund to states would be limited to a level that the Fund could support.

The SAFETEA highway and transit program authorization were scheduled to expire on September 30, 2009. The President asked Congress to extend the existing authorization for 18 months, to March 31, 2011, to give the Administration time to prepare a reauthorization proposal. Congressional reaction to that request was mixed, with the House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee leadership urging Congress to pass reauthorization legislation without delay, while the Senate Environment and Public Works leadership has been supportive of the President's request to extend the existing authorization for a time. Given the many major initiatives Congress was grappling with, and the short time remaining before the expiration of the current authorization, Congress passed two short-term extensions, extending the authorization to February 28, 2010. During the last reauthorization of highway and transit programs, the thenexisting authorization was extended repeatedly, for a total of almost two years beyond the original expiration date, before Congress passed new reauthorization legislation. (For further information about highway and transit program reauthorization, see CRS Report R40780, *Surface Transportation Reauthorization Legislation in the 111<sup>th</sup> Congress: Summary of Selected Major Provisions*, coordinated by (name redacted).)

#### **Rescission of Highway Contract Authority on September 30, 2009**

At the time of the passage of SAFETEA, the Bush Administration was trying to hold down the level of spending in the bill. In order to bring the total funding level of the bill down to the limit set by the President, SAFETEA provided that \$8.7 billion in contract authority would be rescinded from the federal highway program on the last day of the final fiscal year of the authorization, September 30, 2009. SAFETEA-LU, like previous surface transportation authorization legislation, provided states more contract authority than obligational authority (i.e., they are given more contract authority each year than they are authorized to spend). As discussed earlier, the actual level of contract authority expenditure is set by the limitation of obligations, not by the amount of contract authority that is authorized. The contract authority does not expire; consequently, an amount of unused contract authority builds up for each state over time. At the time SAFETEA was enacted, it seemed likely that the rescission of contract authority required on September 30, 2009, if not canceled, could be taken out of their unused amounts of contract authority by the states and would not affect their transportation spending.

In the years since passage of SAFETEA, Congress has several times included rescissions of contract authority in the annual THUD appropriations bills. This practice enabled Congress to provide more highway funding to states than might otherwise have been possible under the annual budget limits and in light of the previous administration's calls for limiting congressional spending, since it made the enacted net highway funding levels appear to be smaller than they actually were.<sup>7</sup> However, by doing so Congress reduced the amount of unused contract authority that states had accumulated.. For some states, their share of the \$8.7 billion rescission that was required on September 30, 2009, was larger than their amount of unused contract authority. The result was that the rescission did actually reduce the amount of federal highway funding those states would otherwise have been able to spend in FY2010.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Even though it is the limitation on obligations figure, not the contract authority figure, that determines how much contract authority can be expended (or "obligated") each year, budget rules allow rescissions of contract authority to be subtracted from the total funding figure for DOT. Thus, DOT's total appropriation figure can be made lower than the actual amount of funding that is being made available to DOT in a fiscal year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The AASHTO Journal, vol. 109, no. 30 (July 31, 2009).

An effort to add an amendment to P.L. 111-46 to prevent the September 30, 2009 rescission failed. Senator Barbara Boxer, chairman of the Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works, said that the issue would be taken up again before the rescission was scheduled to take place. However, canceling the rescission would have been scored as additional Congressional spending. The House had committed to offset any spending increases, so canceling the rescission would have required either increased revenues or a cut in other programs. In the end, Congress allowed the rescission to take place. This had two results; first, for some states it reduced the amount of federal transportation funding that could be spent in FY2010. Second, by significantly reducing the amount of unused contract authority states had accumulated for surface transportation programs, it reduced the opportunity for Congress to use the budget tactic of rescinding unused contract authority (to make the net DOT funding level appear smaller than it actually is) in the future. In the FY2010 DOT appropriation, Congress did not rescind any contract authority under the Federal Highway Administration account; in FY2009 there was a \$3.2 billion contract authority rescission in that account.

#### National Infrastructure Bank<sup>9</sup>/National Infrastructure Investment

The President requested \$5 billion for a national infrastructure bank. This program would provide federal support, in the form of grants and loan guarantees, to large infrastructure projects that promise regional and national economic benefits, and would provide this support in ways intended to attract and coordinate state, local, and private investment in those projects.

The House noted that the bank was unlikely to be established prior to the end of FY2010, and thus did not provide any funding for the bank. However, the House bill would have allowed \$2 billion of the \$4 billion it recommended for the high-speed and intercity passenger rail grant program to be transferred to the bank, should it be established during FY2010.

The Senate did not provide funding for the bank, but provided \$1.1 billion for transportation infrastructure grants to state and local governments for projects that would make a significant impact on the nation, a metropolitan area, or a region. This is similar to the discretionary grant program for transportation projects of national and regional significance in the economic stimulus act, for which \$1.5 billion was provided. While these grants are to be made on a competitive basis, the competition is limited in certain ways: DOT is required to ensure an "equitable geographic distribution" and an "appropriate balance in addressing the needs of urban and rural communities," with a requirement that at least \$250 million (23% of the total) be spent on projects in rural areas. There are also limits on the minimum and maximum size of grants, and a limit on the amount that can be spent in a single state. The grants require a local match, though that can be waived for rural areas, which are also allowed a lower minimum grant size (\$1 million).

Conferees expressed their belief that creation of a national infrastructure bank should be pusued through the normal authorization process. They provided \$600 million for the national infrastructure development grants proposed by the Senate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> While the President's request for funding of the national infrastructure bank was not part of DOT, but was placed in Title III of the House and Senate budget tables under "other independent agencies", this report discussed the request under the section on DOT because the Senate Committee on Appropriations' report on the bill discusses the request under the section on DOT, and the House Committee on Appropriations' report on the bill places the language that would allow transfer of funds to the bank in the section on DOT.

### High-Speed Corridors and Intercity Passenger Rail Service Grant Program

The President requested \$1 billion for another program established in the ARRA, grants to states and other entities for capital projects to develop or improve intercity passenger rail service, including high-speed passenger rail service (in this context, "high speed" is defined as 110 miles per hour or more). The President has said he will request a total of \$5 billion for this program over five years, in addition to the \$8 billion that Congress provided for this program<sup>10</sup> in the ARRA. The first grants were awarded in January 2010. Congress also provided \$90 million in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act for a similar purpose.

The House provided \$4 billion for this program, \$3 billion more than the request, though it allowed \$2 billion of that to be transferred to the national infrastructure bank, should that program be implemented during FY2010. The Senate provided \$1.2 billion for this program. The enacted legislation provided \$2.5 billion.

### Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)

The FAA budget provides both capital and operating funding for the nation's air traffic control system, and also provides federal grants to airports for airport planning and development, and expansion of the capacity of the nation's air traffic infrastructure. The President's budget requests \$15.96 billion in new funding for FY2010. This is \$579 million (3.8%) more than the amount of funding provided in FY2009.<sup>11</sup>

The House approved \$15.98 billion for FY2010, an increase of \$26 million (less than 1%) over the amount requested. The House added \$11 million to the operations account request and \$15 million to the research, engineering, and development account request. The Senate provided \$15.99 billion in funding for FY2010, an increase of \$35 million (less than 1%) over the amount requested.<sup>12</sup> Compared to the House, the Senate provided \$12 million more for the operations account, \$17 million more for the facilities and equipment account, \$8 million more for the small community air service development program, and \$20 million less for the research, engineering, and development account.

The enacted legislation provided \$15.99 billion, 3% (\$522 million) more than the comparable FY2009 figure and less than 1% (\$36 million) more than requested. The enacted figure was reduced to \$15.60 billion for budgetary purposes by a rescission of \$394 million in contract authority.

#### Airport Improvement Program (AIP)

The President's budget requested \$3.5 billion for AIP funding, essentially the same amount provided in FY2008 and FY2009. The House and Senate agreed with the requested level of funding, and this amount was provided in the enacted legislation. AIP funds are used to provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Similar programs were authorized by Congress in P.L. 110-432, passed in October 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The actual increase is \$93 million less, about \$486 million, due to a \$93 million rescission of contract authority in the FY2009 act that made the total funding appear \$93 million smaller. That rescission did not actually reduce the amount of new funding provided in FY2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Committee also recommended a \$393 million rescission of contract authority, making the net new funding \$15.6 billion; this rescission would not reduce the amount of funding actually made available.

grants for airport planning and development, and for projects to increase airport capacity (such as construction of new runways) and other facility improvements.

#### Essential Air Service (EAS)

The President's budget requested \$125 million for the EAS program, a \$52 million (54%) increase over the \$73 million Congress provided in FY2009. The House and Senate both agreed with the requested funding level; conferees increased the funding to \$150 million. These funds are added to \$50 million that is reserved for the program each year, so the total funding enacted for FY2010 is \$200 million, compared to \$123 million in FY2009.

This program seeks to preserve air service to small airports in rural communities by subsidizing the cost of that service. Supporters of the EAS program contend that preserving airline service to rural communities was part of the deal Congress made in exchange for deregulating airline service in 1978, which was expected to reduce air service to rural areas.

#### Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)

The President's budget requested \$41.8 billion in funding for federal highway programs for FY2010, an increase of \$88 million (less than 1%) over the comparable figure provided in FY2009.<sup>13</sup> In order to address the projected financial difficulties of the Highway Trust Fund, the Administration requested that \$36.1 billion come from the general fund, and only \$5.7 billion from the Trust Fund. By contrast, \$41.4 billion of FHWA's funding in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act came from the Trust Fund, and only \$320 million from the general fund.

The House approved \$42.0 billion for FHWA, but rejected the request to draw most of that funding from the general fund, taking only \$126 million from the general fund. The Senate provided \$43.4 billion for FHWA, likewise taking virtually all that amount from the Trust Fund (it took \$1.6 billion from the general fund). The enacted legislation provided \$42.8 billion, with \$41.8 billion of that to come from the Highway Trust Fund.<sup>14</sup> Conferees noted their expectation that FHWA would make more progress on the inspection of bridges.

As noted above, Congress passed legislation in July 2009 to transfer \$7 billion from the general fund to the Highway Trust Fund, an amount which is expected to keep the Fund solvent until sometime during FY2010. To assure the continuing solvency of the Trust Fund—and its ability to support the funding that the FY2010 THUD appropriations bill provides—Congress will need to take additional steps.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The FY2009 enacted figure was reduced, for accounting purposes, by a \$3.2 billion rescission of contract authority, resulting in a net budgetary total of \$38.6 billion for FY2009. An additional \$27.5 billion in emergency stimulus funding was also provided in FY2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The figure reported in the conference report table as "total budgetary resources" for FHWA is \$42.0 billion; it does not include the \$739 million in exempt contract authority, which has been included in FHWA's "total budgetary resources" figure in previous years.

### Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA)

The Administration requested \$550 million for FMCSA, \$9 million (1.7%) more than the net new funding provided for FY2008.<sup>15</sup> The request included \$310 million for grants to states to enforce commercial truck and bus safety regulations. The House and Senate provided the requested amount, as did the enacted legislation.<sup>16</sup>

The House Committee on Appropriations noted that FMCSA's proposed rule regarding electronic on-board data recorders would only require that motor carriers with a history of serious hours-of-service violations install the recorders in their vehicles. The National Transportation Safety Board has long recommended that all commercial vehicles have recorders installed.<sup>17</sup> The Committee directed FMCSA to issue the final rule as soon as possible and to report on how it proposes to encourage installation of recorders in all commercial vehicles. The Senate Committee on Appropriations directed FMCSA to use a portion of its research and technology program funding to educate motor carrier operators on available safety technologies.<sup>18</sup> Conferees reiterated both directives.

### National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)

The Administration requested \$867 million for NHTSA, an increase of \$11 million (1.3%) over the amount provided for FY2009.<sup>19</sup> This amount included \$626 million for grants to states for highway safety programs to reduce deaths and injuries from motor vehicle crashes. The House provided the requested level (though it increased funding over the requested amount for operations & research and national driver register accounts by a total of \$6 million, and reduced the grants to states by a corresponding amount, resulting in the same level for state grant funding as in FY2009). The Senate provided \$868 million, adding a total of \$8 million to the Administration request for the operations & research and national driver register accounts, and likewise reduced the state grants to their FY2009 level. The enacted legislation provided \$873 million, 2% (\$17 million) over the comparable FY2009 figure and \$5 million more than the requested level. Conferees provided more funds than requested for projects developing lessintrusive in-vehicle alcohol detection technologies and for safety research on vehicles that use alternative fuels.

While overall highway fatalities have been decreasing in recent years, one category of highway fatality—motorcycle fatalities—has been increasing. Research indicates that the most effective motorcycle safety policy is requiring that all motorcyclists wear helmets meeting safety standards.<sup>20</sup> Some motorcyclists are strongly opposed to being required to wear helmets. At times, Congress has penalized states that did not have mandatory helmet laws by withholding or restricting the use of some of their federal highway funding, which resulted in near-universal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The net total for FY2009 was reduced, for budgetary purposes, to \$507 million as a result of a \$33 million rescission of contract authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The net total for FY2010 was reduced, for budgetary purposes, to \$539 million as a result of an \$11 million rescission of contract authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> H.Rept. 111-218, p.79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> S.Rept. 111-69, p. 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The \$856 million in new funding for FY2009 was reduced, for budgetary purposes, to \$784 million by \$72 million in rescissions of contract authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> NHTSA, Countermeasures That Work, Fourth Edition, 2009, pp. 5-4, 5-6.

adoption of mandatory helmet laws by states. Congress repealed such a provision in 1995; now 30 states do not have universal mandatory helmet laws.<sup>21</sup> In 1998 Congress also forbade DOT from lobbying states to adopt traffic safety laws.<sup>22</sup> The Senate Committee on Appropriations recommended that an exception be made to this prohibition to allow DOT to engage in activities with states to consider proposals related to the reduction of motorcycle fatalities (Section 104), a recommendation that was reiterated by the conference agreement (Section 103). The same exception was included in the FY2009 THUD appropriations act.<sup>23</sup>

#### Federal Railroad Administration (FRA)

The Administration requested \$2.7 billion for FRA for FY2010, an increase of \$907 million (50%) over the comparable FY2009 level of \$1.8 billion.<sup>24</sup> Virtually all of the increase was due to the Administration's request for \$1.0 billion for intercity passenger rail and high-speed rail grant funding.

The House-passed bill provided \$5.8 billion, an increase of \$3.0 billion over the requested funding level. Virtually all of this additional funding was also for intercity passenger rail and high-speed rail grant funding; the House provided \$4.0 billion, though it provided that \$2 billion of that funding could be transferred to a national infrastructure bank, should one be established during FY2010. Amtrak received its requested level of \$1.5 billion, \$12 million (less than 1%) more than the comparable figure for FY2009.

The Senate-passed bill provided \$3.0 billion for FRA, \$331 million more than the requested level. The additional funding was provided for grants for intercity passenger rail and high-speed rail grants (\$200 million more than the \$1.0 billion requested), Amtrak (\$53 million more than the \$1.5 billion requested), railroad safety technology (\$50 million, no corresponding request), and rail line relocation and improvement (\$25 million, no corresponding request). The \$50 million for railroad safety technology would fund a grant program created in the Rail Safety Improvement Act of 2008 (P.L. 110-432, Division A, section 105) to fund the deployment of train control technologies. That legislation also mandated that railroads deploy positive train control technology on most of the nation's intercity rail network. Estimates of the costs of that deployment are in the billions of dollars.<sup>25</sup>

The enacted legislation provided \$4.4 billion, \$1.6 billion more than requested and \$2.6 billion more than in FY2009. The majority of the additional funding - \$1.5 billion - was for grants, mostly for passenger rail and high speed rail development, but also for safety and rail line relocation.

In June 2009, Amtrak's Inspector General, who had served as Amtrak's IG since the creation of the office in 1989, resigned. Soon afterward, the House Committee on Oversight and Government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Universal mandatory helmet laws require all motorcyclists to wear a helmet. Most of the other states require minors to wear a helmet when riding a motorcycle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> P.L. 105-178, Section 7104 ("Restrictions on Lobbying Activities").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Section 104 of Title I of Division I of P.L. 111-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> FRA also received \$8 billion for intercity passenger rail grants, and \$1.3 million for grants to Amtrak, in emergency economic stimulus funding in P.L. 111-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Department of Transportation, Federal Railroad Administration, "Positive Train Control Systems," 75 *Federal Register*, 2684, January 15, 2010.

Reform announced that it was launching an investigation into the circumstances surrounding the departure of the IG. To promote the independence of the Office of the Inspector General, the Senate Committee on Appropriations recommended that Amtrak's OIG be funded as an independent agency, not as part of Amtrak's appropriation under FRA, and accordingly placed the funding for the OIG in Title III of the appropriation bill, "Independent Agencies." Conferees confirmed this shift.

During Senate floor consideration of the THUD bill, an amendment was added which required that Amtrak allow passengers to transport firearms in checked baggage as of March 31, 2010, or lose their federal funding. Amtrak began prohibiting the transport of firearms even in checked baggage after 9/11. In the enacted legislation, this requirement was altered to give Amtrak one year to implement procedures to allow passengers to carry firearms in checked baggage (section 159).

### Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Virtually all of FTA's funding goes to state and local transportation authorities to support bus, commuter rail, subway, and light rail transit services. Most of this funding is distributed by formulas established in authorizing legislation. The Administration requested \$10.3 billion for FTA for FY2010, an increase of \$104 million (1.0%) over the comparable figure of \$10.2 billion provided for FY2009.<sup>26</sup> As with the request for the FHWA, the Administration sought to reduce the pressure on the Highway Trust Fund by reducing the amount of FTA funding drawn from the Fund, from 81% (\$8.3 billion) in FY2009 to 48% (\$5.0 billion) in FY2010, with the rest coming from general revenues. This change was not supported by Congress.

The House-passed bill recommended \$10.5 billion, an increase of \$148 million (1.4%) over the requested figure. The increase was due to the inclusion of a \$150 million grant to the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA).<sup>27</sup> The Senate-passed bill provided \$11.1 billion, \$730 million (7.1%) more than the requested figure. Most of the increase was additional funding for the New Starts program (\$500 million); there was also a \$150 million grant to WMATA for capital and preventive maintenance expenses, and \$100 million for grants to transit agencies for capital investments that will improve their energy efficiency and reduce their greenhouse gas emissions. The Senate Committee on Appropriations noted that \$100 million was provided for this purpose in the economic stimulus act, and FTA received grant applications totaling over \$1 billion for this funding.<sup>28</sup>

Conferees provided \$10.7 billion in the enacted legislation, with 78% (\$8.3 billion) coming from the Trust Fund. The primary difference among the houses was the amount provided for the New Starts program, with the final figure (\$2.0 billion) being more than requested by the administration and provided by the House, but less than provided by the Senate. The final

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> The net FY2008 enacted total was reduced, for budgetary purposes, to \$10.131 billion by a \$100 million rescission of contract authority. FTA also received \$8.4 billion in emergency economic stimulus funding in FY2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The Passenger Rail Investment and Improvement Act of 2008 (Division B of P.L. 110-432) authorized a total of \$1.5 billion over 10 years for preventive maintenance and capital grants to WMATA. This funding was contingent on Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia amending the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Regulation Compact to commit them to match the funding each year, and making other commitments. In July 2009, Congress agreed to the changes to the compact made by Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia (P.L. 111-62/S.J.Res. 19), so the federal funding could then be appropriated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> S.Rept. 111-69, p. 91.

legislation also provided \$75 million for the energy efficiency grants that were proposed by the Senate.

### Bus and Bus Facilities and New Starts Programs

There are two large discretionary grant programs under FTA, the Bus and Bus Facilities Program and the New Starts Program. The bus program funds bus-related capital projects, including the purchase of new buses, maintenance of existing buses, construction of transfer facilities, intermodal stations, and park-and-ride stations, and bus-related equipment. Typically, most of the program's funds are designated for particular projects; some of these designations are contained in the authorizing legislation, and some in the annual appropriations legislation.

The House provided \$584 million for the bus program for FY2010, \$300 million less than in FY2009, as recommended by the House Committee on Appropriations. The Committee explained that, since the bus project designations contained in SAFETEA-LU (which totaled \$495 million for FY2009) would expire at the end of FY2009, \$584 million would provide adequate discretionary funding for FY2010. The Senate also provided \$584 million.

The New Starts program funds new fixed-guideway transit systems and extensions to existing fixed-guideway systems. While it is a discretionary program, there are a variety of procedural requirements that apply to projects seeking more than \$25 million in federal funding. The House provided \$1.8 billion for the New Starts program, the amount requested and virtually identical to the amount provided in the FY2009 appropriation act (an additional \$750 million was provided in the emergency stimulus act passed in February 2009). The Senate Committee on Appropriations recommended \$2.3 billion, \$480 million more than the request and the House provision. Conferees provided \$2.0 billion.

### Maritime Administration (MARAD)

The Administration requested \$345.5 million for MARAD for FY2010, \$12 million (3.6%) above the \$333 million enacted for FY2009. The House provided \$333.5 million, \$12 million less than requested and approximately the same amount provided in FY2009. The Senate provided \$375.4 million, \$30 million more than the requested level. The enacted legislation provided \$363 million, \$30 million more than the comparable FY2009 amount and \$17 million more than requested.

MARAD supports maritime transportation. The largest components of its budget are the Maritime Security Program and Operations and Training. The Administration requested \$174 million for the Maritime Security Program, the same amount provided in FY2009. This program provides payments of roughly \$2.6 million per ship to retain a fleet of 60 active, militarily useful, privately owned vessels to be available to the federal government in the event they are needed for security purposes. A total of \$153 million was requested for Operations and Training, \$30 million (24.4%) more than provided for FY2009. This program funds the U.S. Merchant Marine Academy, State Maritime Schools, and MARAD's operations. The House's recommendation cut \$12 million from the requested level of funding for the Maritime Program expenses line of this account.

The Senate committee's primary changes from the requested level were the addition of \$17.5 million for assistance to small shipyards (no corresponding request) and \$10 million over the requested level of \$4 million for the Maritime Guaranteed Loan Program. Congress provided \$10 million for assistance to small shipyards in FY2008—its first year of funding, after being

authorized in 2006—and \$17.5 million in FY2009; no money was requested in either year. The program provides grants and loans to small shipyards for capital improvements.

The enacted legislation cut \$3 million from the requested level for Operations and Training, and provided additional funding not requested or provided by the House for assistance to small shipyards (\$15 million) and guaranteed loan subsidies under the Maritime Guaranteed Loan Program (\$5 million).

### Department of Housing and Urban Development Appropriations

**Table 6** presents President Obama's FY2010 budget request for HUD, compared to the prior year's enacted budget authority. Four totals are given at the bottom of **Table 6**: "budget authority provided" and "available budget authority," with and without emergency appropriations. Total budget authority provided includes current year appropriations, plus advance appropriations provided in the current fiscal year for use in the next fiscal year; total available budget authority includes current year appropriations provided in the prior fiscal year for use in the next fiscal year; total available budget authority includes current year appropriations provided in the prior fiscal year for use in the current fiscal year. Congress is scored by CBO for the amount of available budget authority in an appropriations bill; however, the Appropriations Committees' documents often discuss the amount of budget authority provided.

President Obama's first HUD budget requested a 7.7% increase in regular annual appropriations for HUD programs. However, that increase would require a 9.5% increase in net new budget authority because of a decline in the amount requested for rescission.

The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 would provide more than an 11% increase in regular annual appropriations for HUD programs, 3% more than the President's request. That increase would require more than a 13% increase in net new budget authority, also attributable to a decline in rescissions.

The Senate Committee-reported version of H.R. 3288 would provide less than the House-passed bill, but more than the President's request. It would result in an 8.5% increase in regular annual appropriations for HUD programs, which would require more than a 10% increase in net new budget authority.

After a series continuing resolutions, final FY2010 funding levels for HUD were set by the Consolidated Appropriations Act (P.L. 111-117). The act provided more for HUD than the Senate recommended and the President requested, but less than the House recommended. The 9% increase in total HUD funding over FY2009 levels required an 11% increase in net new budget authority. The difference is largely attributable to a decline in the amount of funding rescinded.

#### (dollars in billions) FY2010 FY2009 FY2010 FY2010 FY2010 Accounts enacted request House Senate Consolidated **Appropriations** 1.346 1.346 1.346 Management and Administration 1.303 1.346 Tenant Based Rental Assistance (Sec. 8 vouchers) (includes 16.817 17.836 18.242 18.137 18.184 advance appropriation for subsequent year) 8.552 Project Based Rental Assistance (Sec. 8) (includes advance 7.500 8.100 8.700 8.100 appropriation for subsequent year) 2.450 2.244 2.500 2.500 2.500 Public housing capital fund Public housing operating fund 4.455 4.600 4.800 4.750 4.775 Choice Neighborhoods 0.000 0.250 0.000 0.250 0.065 HOPE VI 0.120 0.000 0.250 0.000 0.135 0.700 Native American housing block grants 0.645 0.645 0.750 0.670 Indian housing loan guarantee 0.009 0.007 0.007 0.007 0.007 Native Hawaiian Block Grant 0.010 0.010 0.012 0.013 0.013 Native Hawaiian loan guarantee 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.350 Housing, persons with AIDS (HOPWA) 0.310 0.310 0.320 0.335 0.026 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Rural Housing Economic Development 0.000 0.100 0.050 0.075 0.050 **Energy Innovation Fund** 4.599 4.450 Community Development Fund (Including CDBG) 3.900 4.450 4.450 0.006 0.000 0.006 0.000 0.006 Sec.108 loan guarantee; subsidy 0.010 0.000 0.018 Brownfields redevelopment 0.000 0.025 **HOME** Investment Partnerships 1.825 1.825 1.995 1.825 1.825 Self-Help Homeownership 0.064 0.077 0.085 0.085 0.082 1.677 1.794 1.850 1.865 Homeless Assistance Grants 1.875 0.825 Housing for the Elderly<sup>a</sup> 0.765 0.765 1.000 0.785 0.250 0.250 0.265 0.300 Housing for Persons with Disabilities<sup>a</sup> 0.350 Manufactured Housing Fees Trust Fund 0.016 0.016 0.016 0.016 0.016 Housing Counseling Assistance 0.065 0.100 0.075 0.100 0.088 0.028 0.040 0.040 0.040 0.040 **Rental Housing Assistance** 0.058 0.050 0.050 0.048 0.048 Research and technology FHA Expenses 0.203 1.010 0.212 0.505 0.217

0.012

0.054

0.140

0.224

0.120

0.000

0.072

0.140

0.200

0.120

0.000

0.072

0.140

0.200

0.120

0.000

0.072

0.140

0.200

0.126

#### Table 6. HUD Appropriations, FY2009-FY2010

Congressional Research Service

**GNMA** Expenses

Fair housing activities

Working capital fund

Inspector General

Office, lead hazard control

0.000

0.072

0.140

0.200

0.125

Accounts	FY2009 enacted	FY2010 request	FY2010 House	FY2010 Senate	FY2010 Consolidated
Legislative Proposals	0.000	0.020	0.100	0.020	0.020
Appropriations Subtotal (Including advances provided in current year for subsequent year)	43.062	46.377	47.942	46.721	46.998
Rescissions					
Rental housing assistance rescission	-0.038	-0.028	-0.028	-0.028	-0.072
Section 8 Voucher Rescission	-0.750	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Rescissions Subtotal	-0.788	-0.028	-0.028	-0.028	-0.072
Offsetting Collections and Receipts					
Manufactured Housing Fees Trust Fund	-0.011	-0.007	-0.007	-0.007	-0.007
Federal Housing Administration (FHA)	-0.531	-0.140	-0.140	-0.140	-0.140
GNMA	-0.193	-0.720	-0.720	-0.718	-0.720
Legislative Proposals	-0.005	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Offsets Subtotal	-0.740	-0.867	-0.867	-0.865	-0.867
Emergency Funding <sup>b</sup>					
ARRA Supplemental Public Housing Capital Grants	4.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Indian Housing Block Grants	0.510	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Community Development Block Grants (CDBG)	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Homelessness Prevention	1.500	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Assisted Housing Stability and Energy and Green Retrofit Investments	2.250	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Neighborhood Stabilization Program	2.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Tax Credit Assistance Program	2.250	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Lead paint abatement grants	0.100	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA GSE Conforming Loan Limit Changes	0.038	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
ARRA Office of the Inspector General	0.015	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Emergency Funding Subtotal	13.663	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Totals					
Budget Authority Provided, excluding emergency funding	41.535	45.483	47.048	45.828	46.059
Budget Authority Available, excluding emergency funding (adjusted for advances)	41.293	45.483	47.054	45.828	46.066
Budget Authority Provided, including emergency funding	55.198	45.483	47.048	45.828	46.059
Budget Authority Available, excluding emergency funding (adjusted for advances)	54.956	45.483	47.054	45.828	46.066

**Source:** Prepared by CRS based on HUD Congressional Budget Justifications, H.R. 3288, H.Rept. 111-218 (adjusted for floor amendments), S.Rept. 111-69, P.L. 111-117 and H.Rept. 111-366.

a. For FY2010, the President proposed to change the account structure for the Section 202 and Section 811 programs so that contracts for new capital grants and project rental assistance would be funded in a

separate account from contracts for the renewal of rental assistance. Neither the House-passed nor the Senate Appropriations Committee-passed versions of H.R. 3288 incorporate this recommendation.

b. For an expanded discussion of emergency supplemental funding provided by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5), see Appendix A of CRS Report RL34504, *The Department of Housing and Urban Development: FY2009 Appropriations*, by (name redacted) et al.

### Select Budget Issues, FY2010

This section of the report summarizes select HUD budget issues in FY2010. For an expanded discussion, see CRS Report R40727, *The Department of Housing and Urban Development: FY2010 Appropriations*, coordinated by (name redacted).

### New Administration "Crosscutting" Initiatives

The FY2010 budget is the first of the Obama Administration. While it was completed on a short time-frame, it contains several initiatives that are new and reflect the Obama Administration's priorities. Specifically, as stated in the budget documents, the budget reflects five goals:

- 1. address the nation's housing and economic crisis;
- 2. restore federal leadership on promoting affordable rental housing;
- 3. invest strategically in rural and metropolitan communities;
- 4. drive energy efficient housing and inclusive, sustainable growth; and
- 5. transform the way that HUD does business.

While these goals are reflected throughout the budget, several new initiatives are proposed, and are summarized below.

#### **Transformation Initiative**

President Obama's Transformation Initiative requested the authority to transfer up to 1% of funding provided for most HUD accounts to fund activities related to the development of

- Research, Evaluation, and Performance Metrics;
- Program Demonstrations;
- Technical Assistance and Capacity Building; and
- Next-Generation Information Technology.

HUD estimates that, at the requested funding level, the transfer authority would make \$433.5 million available to the Transformation Initiative in FY2010. In addition, the budget requested \$20 million in new appropriations to fund specific activities designed to address mortgage fraud, including fraud in the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) mortgage insurance programs.

Both the House and Senate versions of H.R. 3288, as well as P.L. 111-117, supported the President's Transformation Initiative by including the \$20 million requested for combating mortgage fraud and some transfer authority, although it is a more limited form of transfer authority than requested by the President.

### **Energy Innovation Fund**

The Energy Innovation Fund is an Obama Administration proposal to "catalyze private sector investment in the energy efficiency of the Nation's housing stock." According to HUD's Congressional Budget Justifications, the \$100 million fund would provide up to \$50 million for a "Local Initiatives Fund." This fund would provide "a mix of incentive grants, demand-side subsidies, and supply-side leveraging to support the expansion or start-up" of 10 or more local energy retrofit funds. Another \$25 million would be available to develop a new pilot energy efficient mortgage program in FHA's single family mortgage insurance program. The final \$25 million would be available to fund energy efficiency improvements in certain HUD-insured multifamily rehabilitation projects.

The House-passed bill included \$50 million for the President's Energy Innovation Fund, half the amount requested. The bill did not include funding for the "Local Initiatives Fund," but did include funding for the Multifamily Energy Pilot and the energy efficient mortgage program at the requested levels. The Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288 included funding for all three components of the President's Energy Innovation Fund, but at a lower funding level than requested. Specifically, the bill included \$20 million each for the energy efficient mortgage and Multifamily Energy Pilot program and \$35 million for the Local Initiatives Fund. P.L. 111-117 provided \$50 million for the Energy Innovation Fund, and, like the House bill, allocated half for the single-family energy efficient mortgage program and half for the Multifamily Energy Pilot. It did not fund the Local Initiatives Fund.

### **Choice Neighborhoods**

The Choice Neighborhood Initiative is an Obama Administration initiative that would provide competitive grants to revitalize severely distressed neighborhoods. The initiative would be modeled after the HOPE VI program, which provides competitive grants to public housing authorities (PHAs) to revitalize severely distressed public housing. The President's FY2010 budget proposed no new funding for HOPE VI, but requested \$250 million for the new Choice Neighborhoods Initiative. In addition to PHAs, local governments, nonprofits, and for-profit developers would be eligible to compete for funds primarily aimed at the transformation, rehabilitation, and replacement of HUD public and assisted housing that cannot be funded through current annual formula or contract payments. According to HUD's Congressional Budget Justifications, in addition to addressing HUD-assisted housing, the program would be aimed at "supporting affordable housing and community development activities in surrounding communities and improving the lives of area residents by creating job opportunities, improving schools and providing work and rent incentives that promote family self-sufficiency."

The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 and the Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288 took different positions on the Choice Neighborhoods Initiative and HOPE VI. The House bill would continue to fund HOPE VI, whereas the Senate Committee bill would fund the new initiative, but with a set-aside of more than half of the funding for PHA-led projects. The final FY2010 funding bill, P.L. 111-117, funded both, by providing \$200 million for HOPE VI, with a set-aside of \$65 million for a Choice Neighborhoods Initiative demonstration.

### Housing Trust Fund

The Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (P.L. 110-289) established a Housing Trust Fund that would provide a permanent, dedicated source of funding for affordable housing activities outside of the annual appropriations process. P.L. 110-289 identified contributions from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as the dedicated funding source. However, Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's contributions to the Housing Trust Fund were indefinitely suspended in November 2008 by their conservator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency, due to Fannie's and Freddie's financial difficulties. The suspension of Fannie's and Freddie's contributions left the Housing Trust Fund without a source of funding. While P.L. 110-289 authorized funding other than the contributions from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to be appropriated or transferred to the Housing Trust Fund, no funding has yet been directed to the Housing Trust Fund.

The President's budget proposed \$1 billion in mandatory funding for the Housing Trust Fund, but a funding source has not been identified for this sum. Neither the House nor the Senate bills, or the final FY2010 funding bill, mentioned the Housing Trust Fund.

### Section 8 Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (Housing Choice Vouchers)

The Section 8 tenant-based rental assistance account funds the Section 8 voucher program and is the largest account in the HUD budget. The Section 8 voucher program provides portable rental subsidies that low-income families use to reduce their housing costs in the private market. HUD currently funds more than two million Section 8 vouchers, which are administered at the local level by public housing authorities (PHAs). This account—the largest in HUD's budget—primarily funds the cost of renewing those vouchers each year, as well as the cost of administering the program.

### FY2009 Voucher Renewal Funding Issues

The FY2009 appropriations law provided just over \$11 billion in new appropriations for renewals of Section 8 vouchers in calendar year (CY) 2009; in addition, an advance appropriation provided \$4 billion for use in CY2009. However, because the FY2009 appropriations law also enacted a rescission of \$750 million, a total of \$14.284 billion was available to renew Section 8 vouchers in CY2009.

As directed by Congress, HUD based the CY2009 allocations on the voucher utilization and cost data submitted by PHAs for FY2008. HUD used this same data to estimate PHAs' unspent reserves (Net Restricted Assets, or NRA). In some cases, HUD's estimates of costs (plus inflation), utilization, and NRA did not accurately represent PHAs' CY2009 costs, utilization, and NRA balances. In some cases, the inaccurate estimates resulted from inaccurately reported data; in some cases, the differences resulted from significant changes in the cost and leasing conditions of agencies between FY2008 and the start of CY2009.

Regardless of the reason, some PHAs have found that their CY2009 funding is insufficient to cover the costs of all the vouchers they are currently using to serve families. HUD has estimated that as many as 15% of PHAs administering the voucher programs face such shortfalls. The Department is working with agencies to determine which ones are facing these shortfalls, and

which ones can be assisted with the FY2009 \$100 million renewal set-aside and \$30 million administrative fee set-aside, and it is advising agencies as to how they can cut costs to stay within their budgets.<sup>29</sup> If a PHA does not have sufficient funding to renew all of its vouchers, the PHA may have to stop issuing vouchers, and, at the extreme, some families may lose assistance. HUD has asked agencies that are facing shortfalls to contact the Department before terminating assistance.<sup>30</sup>

In response to concerns about the implications of these funding shortfalls, the second continuing resolution (P.L. 111-88) permitted HUD to use \$200 million of the advance appropriation provided in FY2009 for use in FY2010 to adjust PHAs' CY2009 budgets.

### FY2010 Voucher Renewals

For FY2010, the President requested \$16.189 billion for voucher renewals, with no proposed rescissions. The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 included about \$200 million above the President's requested level for renewals. The Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288 included \$150 million more for renewals than the President's request, but \$50 million less than the House bill. P.L. 111-117 funded renewals at the Senate-requested level.

### FY2010 New Vouchers

Incremental vouchers is the term used to describe new vouchers. As noted earlier, most funding in the voucher program is devoted to renewing existing vouchers. However, the demand for vouchers far exceeds the supply of roughly two million vouchers, so low-income housing advocates regularly lobby for incremental vouchers to help serve additional families. In his FY2010 budget, the President did not request funding for new incremental vouchers. The FY2010 Congressional Budget Justifications note that the Department is focused on "fully implementing the FY2008 and FY2009 Appropriations."<sup>31</sup>

The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 included \$75 million for new incremental vouchers for homeless veterans through the HUD-VA Supported Housing (HUD-VASH) program. The Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288 included \$75 million for HUD-VASH vouchers and \$20 million for Family Unification Program vouchers—these vouchers are used by families who have been involved in the child welfare system. P.L. 111-117 included funding for both VASH vouchers and FUP vouchers.

### **Public Housing Operating and Capital Funds**

The public housing program provides publicly owned and subsidized rental units for very lowincome families. Although no new public housing developments have been built for many years, Congress continues to provide funds to the more than 3,100 public housing authorities (PHAs)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> For more information, see the HUD presentation titled "Financial Management 2009," available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/pih/programs/hcv/webcasts/finman2009jun30.pdf, and HUD News Release No. 09-143, "HUD Makes Funds Available to Housing Agencies with Section 8 Difficulties: HUD issues guidance to agencies to keep families housed," July 31, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See HUD FY2010 Congressional Budget Justifications, p. F-12, F-15, and F-16.

that own and maintain the existing stock of more than 1.2 million units. Through the Public Housing Operating Fund, HUD provides funds to PHAs to help fill the gap between tenants' contributions toward rent and the cost of ongoing maintenance, utilities, and administration of public housing. Through the Public Housing Capital Fund, HUD provides funding to PHAs for large capital projects and modernization needs.

### **Operating Fund**

In FY2009, Congress provided \$4.455 billion for the Operating Fund, which was sufficient to fund an estimated 90% of PHA budget eligibility.<sup>32</sup> In FY2010, President Obama requested just under \$4.600 billion, which HUD's Congressional Budget Justifications estimate would fully fund PHAs' budget needs. Several of the PHA industry groups have contended that HUD's estimates are incorrect and that to fully fund PHA budgets, the Operating Fund would need \$5.050 billion in FY2010.<sup>33</sup> Both the House-passed and Senate Committee-passed bills would increase funding above the President's requested level (to \$4.800 billion and \$4.750 billion respectively), but not to the level requested by advocates. P.L. 111-117 provided \$4.775 billion for the Operating Fund.

### **Capital Fund**

President Obama's FY2010 budget requested \$2.244 billion for the Capital Fund. Of that amount, \$2.199 billion would be available for formula grants. The amount requested is roughly equal to the estimated \$2 billion in new capital needs that accrue every year in public housing. In addition to new needs, there is an estimated backlog of roughly \$20 billion in unmet capital needs.<sup>34</sup> Both the House-passed and Senate Committee-passed versions of H.R. 3288 would fund the Capital Fund at \$2.5 billion, which is more than both the President's request and the FY2009 level. P.L. 111-117 adopted the House and Senate funding level, \$2.5 billion.

### **Community Development and CDBG**

### CDBG

The Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program is the largest source of federal financial assistance in support of state and local neighborhood revitalization, housing rehabilitation, and economic development activities. CDBG is part of the Community Development Fund (CDF) account, which has also funded other community development-related programs in past years, including the Economic Development Initiatives (EDI) and Neighborhood Initiative (NI) programs.

For FY2010, the Administration's budget request proposed a \$550 million increase in total CDF appropriations, including a request to "fully fund" the CDBG program. In addition, the budget request included \$150 million to fund the Administration's proposed Sustainable Communities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See HUD FY2010 Congressional Budget Justifications, p. H-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See "Industry Groups Send Letter to Secretary Donovan on HUD's 2010 Operating Fund Budget Shortfall," PHADA Advocate, July 1, 2009 (Vol. 24, No. 11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Abt Associates, "Capital Needs of the Public Housing Stock in 1998 Formula Capital Study," January 2000.

Initiatives, and \$50 million to support activities previously funded under other HUD accounts specifically, the Rural Innovation Fund (currently known as the Rural Housing and Economic Development Program), and the University Communities Fund, previously funded under a different account.

The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 included \$4.599 billion for CDF activities, including \$4.167 billion for formula-based CDBG funds to state and local governments. The bill recommended \$149 million more in CDF appropriations and \$18 million less in CDBG formula-based funding than requested by the Administration. The difference in the amount requested by the Administration and that recommended by the House would be used to fund congressionally designated special projects (earmarks) under both the EDI (\$151 million) and NI (\$16 million) subaccounts. The Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288 would take a similar tack, recommending an amount for CDBG formula-based funding that is \$193 million less than requested by the Administration in order to fund the EDI and NI subaccounts. In addition, both the House-passed version of H.R. 3288 and the Senate Committee-passed version support the Administration's multi-pronged Sustainable Communities Initiative by recommending \$150 million in new appropriations to fund the initiative, which would promote the regional integration of housing, transportation, energy, and environmental plans and strategies.

P.L. 111-117 provided the same level of funding for the CDF as requested by the President and proposed by the Senate. Of that amount, \$3.99 billion is designated for CDBG grants, \$173 million is designated for EDI, \$22 million is designated for NI, and \$150 million is designated for the Sustainable Communities Initiative.

#### Section 108 and Brownfields

The Brownfield Economic Development Initiative (BEDI) program is a competitive grant program that provides funds to assist communities with the redevelopment of abandoned, idled, and underused industrial and commercial facilities where expansion and redevelopment are burdened by real or potential environmental contamination. The Section 108 loan guarantee program allows states and entitlement communities to borrow against their annual CDBG allocation in order to help finance brownfield redevelopment activities.

Although the previous Administration requested no new funding for BEDI and the Section 108 loan guarantee programs during previous budget cycles, arguing they were duplicative of other programs, Congress continued to fund the programs.

The Obama Administration's FY2010 budget proposed to revamp the Section 108 loan guarantee program by eliminating the credit subsidy<sup>35</sup> and instead charging a fee-based assessment to borrowers accessing the program. The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 would maintain the program's present structure, while the version reported by the Senate Appropriations Committee supports the Administration's proposal. P.L. 111-117 adopted the House proposal, funding Section 108 at \$6 million, utilizing the previous structure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> A credit subsidy is the estimated long-term cost to the federal government of a direct loan or loan guarantee. For loan guarantees, the subsidy cost is the net present value of estimated payments by the government to cover defaults and delinquencies, interest subsidies, or other payments, offset by any payments to the government, including origination and other fees, penalties, and recoveries.

President Obama's FY2010 budget also proposed eliminating the separate appropriation for the BEDI program for FY2010, but noted that program activities could continue to be funded under the larger CDBG program. H.R. 3288, as reported by the Senate Appropriations Committee, included no funding for the program. However, the House-passed version of the bill would appropriate \$25 million for BEDI activities, returning the program to its pre-FY2007 funding level. P.L. 111-117 provided \$18 million for BEDI.

### **Funding for Housing Counseling**

HUD's housing counseling program provides competitive grants to HUD-approved housing counseling agencies. Housing counseling agencies provide a wide range of counseling services to prospective home buyers, current homeowners, and other groups with specific housing concerns. Recently, Congress has also provided separate funding to the Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation, commonly known as NeighborWorks America, specifically for foreclosure mitigation counseling. NeighborWorks distributes these funds to eligible housing counseling organizations through the National Foreclosure Mitigation Counseling Program (NFMCP). (Note that the funding for the NFMCP is not provided within HUD's budget; the Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation receives a separate appropriation in Title III of the Transportation, HUD, and Related Agencies funding bill).

The President's budget proposed \$100 million in funding for HUD housing counseling in FY2010, a \$35 million increase over the \$65 million appropriated in FY2009. The President's budget also included \$33.8 million in funding for the NFMCP.

The House-passed version of H.R. 3288 included the same total amount of funding for housing counseling as the President's budget, but proposed to distribute the funding differently. The House bill would provide \$75 million in funding for HUD's housing counseling program, which represents a \$10 million increase over the FY2009 appropriation but is \$25 million less than the President's budget request. The House bill would also provide \$63.8 million for the NFMCP, a \$30 million increase over the President's budget request. The Senate Committee-passed bill would provide a higher total amount of funding for housing counseling than either the House-passed bill or the President's budget request. Specifically, the Senate Committee-passed bill would provide \$100 million for HUD Housing Counseling and \$65 million for the NFMCP.

P.L. 111-117 included \$87.5 million for HUD housing counseling and \$65 million for the NFMCP.

### FHA and Ginnie Mae

### FHA (including HECM)

The Federal Housing Administration (FHA) insures mortgage loans made by private lenders to eligible borrowers. The FHA home loan insurance programs are administered through two program accounts: the Mutual Mortgage Insurance/Cooperative Management Housing Insurance fund account (MMI/CMHI) and the General Insurance/Special Risk Insurance fund account (GI/SRI). The MMI/CMHI fund provides insurance for home mortgages. The GI/SRI fund provides insurance for more risky home mortgages, for multifamily rental housing, and for an assortment of special-purpose loans such as hospitals and nursing homes. In recent years, the cost

of FHA in the annual appropriations acts has been negative, meaning that the account has, on net, brought in more than it costs, with the surplus used to offset the cost of the HUD budget.

However, the President's FY2010 budget request, as estimated by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO), would require positive appropriations for the FHA account. This is in part due to the Home Equity Conversion Mortgage (HECM) program, which, because of the present housing market, has experienced lower-than-expected appreciation rates for homes. Under the President's budget request, HECMs would require \$798 million in positive appropriations in FY2010.

Both the House-passed and Senate Committee-passed versions of H.R. 3288 would require HUD to make changes to the HECM program to minimize the amount of positive credit subsidy required in the MMI fund. For example, both versions of H.R. 3288 would require an adjustment of the factors used to calculate the principal limit for HECMs. H.R. 3288, as passed by the House, estimated that the FHA funds would not need the positive appropriations for HECMs assumed by the President's budget. Under the Senate Committee-passed version of H.R. 3288, the positive subsidy requirement for HECMs would be \$288 million, compared to \$798 million under the President's budget.

P.L. 111-117 included the House proposal to require the Secretary of HUD to administer the HECM program without a credit subsidy.

### Ginnie Mae

The Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae) is the agency of HUD that guarantees the timely payment of principal and interest on securities that back mortgages insured by FHA and other government agencies. Increases in FHA activity results in an increase in Ginnie Mae activity, since Ginnie Mae backs nearly 97% of FHA-insured mortgages. The President's budget estimated that Ginnie Mae would provide \$720 million in offsets that could be used to reduce the cost of the HUD budget, compared to only \$193 million in FY2009.

### **Appendix. Related Legislation**

# The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA; H.R. 1/P.L. 111-5)

On February 17, 2009, the President signed this measure (commonly referred to as "the economic stimulus act") into law. It included 461.8 billion for THUD agencies: \$48.1 billion for DOT programs and \$13.7 billion for HUD programs. The legislation included deadlines to encourage the expenditure of the money as quickly as feasible; while much of the funding was expended during FY2009, some will not be expended until FY2010 or even later

Program	Funding
Supplemental Discretionary Grants for a National Surface Transportation System	\$1,500
FAA Supplemental Funding for Facilities and Equipment	200
FAA Grants-in-Aid to Airports	1,100
FHWA Highway Infrastructure Investment	27,500
FRA Capital Assistance For High Speed Rail Corridors And Intercity Passenger Rail Service	8,000
Capital Grants to Amtrak	1,300
FTA Transit Capital Assistance	6,900
FTA Fixed Guideway Infrastructure Investment	750
FTA Capital Investment Grants (New Starts)	750
MARAD Supplemental Grants for Assistance to Small Shipyards	100
OIG Salaries and Expenses	20
Total DOT	\$48,120

#### Table A-I. DOT Funding in ARRA

(in \$ millions)

Source: CRS, compiled from P.L. 111-5, Title XII.

Program	Funding
Supplemental Public Housing Capital Grants	\$4,000
Indian Housing Block Grants	510
Community Development Block Grants (CDBG)	1,000
Homelessness Prevention	1,500
Assisted Housing Stability and Energy and Green Retrofit Investments	2,250
Neighborhood Stabilization Program	2,000
Tax Credit Assistance Program	2,250
Lead paint abatement grants	100
GSE Conforming Loan Limit Changes	38
Office of the Inspector General	15
Total HUD	\$13,663

#### Table A-2. HUD Funding in ARRA (in \$ millions)

Source: CRS, compiled from P.L. 111-5, Title XII.

### The Department of Defense Appropriations Act, FY2010 (P.L. 111-118)

Division B of this act, which was signed into law on December 19, 2009, included a provision extending the authorization of the surface transportation programs to February 28, 2010 (section 1008). The authorization, which was originally scheduled to expire on September 30, 2010, had previously been extended by the Continuing Appropriations Resolution, FY2010 (Division B of P.L. 111-68, sections 157-162).

### The Jobs for Main Street Act of 2009 (H.R. 2847)

On December 16, 2009, the House of Representatives passed a substitute amendment to H.R. 2847. Division A, the Jobs for Main Street Act of 2009, would provide \$150 billion in supplemental emergency funding to stimulate the economy, and includes funding for both transportation and housing programs.

It would provide \$37.3 billion for DOT, with virtually all of that funding going to highway and transit grants, and would extend the authorization for DOT surface transportation programs to September 30, 2010. It would provide over \$1 billion to HUD to capitalize the National Affordable Housing Trust Fund. (For more information, see CRS Report R40781, *The Housing Trust Fund: Background and Issues*, by (name redacted).) It would also provide HUD with \$1 billion for competitive grants through the Public Housing Capital Fund.

The Senate has not yet taken action on the Jobs for Main Street Act of 2009.

### **Author Contact Information**

(name redacted) Analyst in Transportation Policy /redacted/@crs.loc.gov, 7-.... (name redacted) Specialist in Housing Policy /redacted/@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

### **Key Policy Staff**

Area of Expertise	Name	Phone E-mail
Department of Transportation		
Transportation Budget/Data Coordinator, Amtrak, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Surface Transportation Safety, Surface Transportation Security	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Aviation Safety, Aviation Security, Federal Aviation Administration	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Airport Improvement Program, Transportation Finance, Transportation Infrastructure Policy, Transportation Trust Funds	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Airport Improvement Program, Federal Highway Administration	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Federal Railroad Administration, Freight Transportation, Maritime Administration, Surface Transportation Board	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Federal Transit Administration, Surface Transportation Policy, Transit Policy	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Department of Housing and Urban	Development	
Low-income housing programs and issues and general HUD: Section 8, Public Housing, HOPE VI, HOME	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Home Investment Parnerships Program, Housing Trust Fund, Housing Counseling	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Community Development programs and issues: Community Development Block Grants (CDBG), EZ/EC, Brownfields redevelopment	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov

Area of Expertise	Name	Phone E-mail
Homeownership and other housing issues: FHA, Rural, Indian housing, Fair Housing	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Housing programs and issues for special populations: Elderly (202), Disabled (811), Homeless, AIDS housing	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Related Agencies		
Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Federal Maritime Commission	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
National Transportation Safety Board	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov
United States Interagency Council on Homelessness	(name redacted)	7 /redacted/@crs.loc.gov

### **EveryCRSReport.com**

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.